(2)

SYSTEMS, SCIENCE AND SOFTWARE

SSS-R-77-3164

2 M IN STATE

AUG 24 1977

A REVIEW OF THE NATURE AND VARIABILITY OF THE ANELASTIC PROPERTIES OF THE UPPER MANTLE BENEATH NORTH AMERICA AND EURASIA

> Brian J. Mitchell Thomas C. Bache

Topical Report

Sponsored by: Advanced Research Projects Agency ARPA Order No. 2551

This research was supported by the Advanced Research Projects Agency of the Department of Defense and was monitored by AFTAC/VSC, Patrick AFB, FL 32925, under Contract No. F08606-76-C-0041.

The views and conclusions contained in this document are those of the authors and should not be interpreted as necessarily representing the official policies, either expressed or implied, of the Advanced Research Projects Agency, the Air Force Technical Applications Center, or the U.S. Government.

Approved for Public Release, Distribution Unlimited.

March 1977

P. O. BOX 1620, LA JOLLA, CALIFORNIA 92038, TELEPHONE (714) 453-0060

D NO.

AFTAC Project Authorization No. VELA/T/7712/B/ETR Program Code No. 6H189 Effective Date of Contract: October 1, 1976 Contract Expiration Date: September 30, 1977 Amount of Contract: \$374,397 Contract No. F08606-76-C-0041 Principal Investigator and Phone No. Dr. Thomas C. Bache, (714) 453-0060, Ext. 337 Project Scientist and Phone No. Dr. Ralph W. Alewine, III, (202) 325-8484

UNCLASSIFIED SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF THIS PAGE (When Data Entered) **READ INSTRUCTIONS** REPORT DOCUMENTATION PAGE BEFORE COMPLETING FORM 1. REPORT NUMBER 2. GOVT ACCESSION NO. 3. RECIPIENT'S CATAL OG NUMBER 4. TITLE (and Subtitle) TYPE OF REPORT & PERIOD COVERED Topical Repert. A REVIEW OF THE NATURE AND VARIABILITY OF THE ANELASTIC PROPERTIES OF THE UPPER PERFORMING ORG. REPORT NUMBER MANTLE BENEATH NORTH AMERICA AND EURASIA . SSS-R-77-3164 CONTRACT OR GRANT NUMBER(S) AUTHOR(.) Brian J./Mitchell FØ86Ø6-76-C-0Ø41 L Thomas C./Bache 9. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION NAME AND ADDRESS 10. PROGRAM ELEMENT, PROJECT, TASK AREA & WORK UNIT NUMBERS Systems, Science and Software/ Program Code No. 6H189 P. O. Box 1620 ARPA Order No= 2551 La Jolla, California 92038 11. CONTROLLING OFFICE NAME AND ADDRESS 12. REPORT DATE VELA Seismological Center March 1977 312 Montgomery Street 3. NUMBER OF PAGES Alexandria, Virginia 22314 28 14. MONITORING AGENCY NAME & ADDRESS(II different from Controlling Office) 15. SECURITY CLASS. (of this report) Unclassified 15. DECLASSIFICATION DOWNGRADING SCHEDULE 16. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of this Report) Approved for Public Release, Distribution Unlimited. 17. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the abstract entered in Block 20, if different from Report) 18. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES 19. KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse side if necessary and identify by block number) Seismology Upper Mantle Models Upper Mantle Q Anelastic Properties 20. ABSTRACT (Continue on reverse side if necessary and identify by block number) All reasonable mechanisms for producing low-velocity zones in the upper mantle should also produce zones of low Q. The available studies of upper mantle Q and velocity for the same regions suggest that a coincidence of low velocity and low Q zones does indeed occur. Seismic body- and surface-wave data indicate a substantial low velocity, low Q zone in the upper mantle beneath western North DD I JAN 73 1473 EDITION OF I NOV 65 IS OBSOLETE Unclassified SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF THIS PAGE (When Date Entered) 388 507

UNCLASSIFIED

SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF THIS PAGE(When Date Entered)

20. ABSTRACT

America. The zone appears to be 150 km thick or more, the velocities for both P and S waves being lower than typical upper mantle velocities for stable regions.

The available evidence for eastern North America indicates that a low velocity zone is either absent for that region or more poorly developed than it is in western North America. Most interpretations for P waves in eastern North America include no low velocity zone. Surface wave studies of the shear wave velocity structure beneath eastern North America indicate the possibility of a low velocity zone for S waves, at least in some regions.

The available data for northern Europe and Asia indicate that it is a stable region with velocity and attenuative properties much like those of eastern North America. The difference in attenuative properties of the upper mantle between the western United States and northern Asia might lead to higher m_b values for the Asian nuclear events than for equivalent NTS events, if the low velocity, low Q zone beneath the western United States is sufficiently thick and has low enough values. Thickness and Q values suggested by most published research can easily cause m_b values for events in the Basin and Range province to be a few tenths of a magnitude unit lower than events in shield regions.

UNCLASSIFIED

SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF THIS PAGE(When Date Entered)

Page

TABLE OF CONTENTS

)

3

3

3

P

7

ş.

8

Þ

Þ

3

ABSTRACT					
I.	INTRODUCTION				
11.	RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN ZONES OF LOW VELOCITY AND LOW Q IN THE MANTLE				
III.	EASTERN NORTH AMERICAN UPPER MANTLE MODELS 6				
IV.	WESTERN NORTH AMERICAN UPPER MANTLE MODELS 10				
v.	COMPARATIVE STUDIES OF THE UPPER MANTLE BETWEEN EASTERN AND WESTERN NORTH AMERICA 13				
VI.	OTHER GEOPHYSICAL STUDIES				
VII.	CRUSTAL ANELASTICITY				
VIII.	COMPARISON WITH EURASIA				
IX.	CONCLUSIONS				
x.	REFERENCES				

ACC'SS II for NTIS Vite Section D Buff Section 500 UNANNOUNC B JUSTI ICATION DISTRIBUTION ANALY ADALLY CODES EY SPECIAL 0:5

i

ABSTRACT

All reasonable mechanisms for producing low-velocity zones in the upper mantle should also produce zones of low Q. The available studies of upper mantle Q and velocity for the same regions suggest that a coincidence of low velocity and low Q zones does indeed occur.

Seismic body- and surface-wave data indicate a substantial low velocity, low Q zone in the upper mantle beneath western North America. The zone appears to be 150 km thick or more, the velocities for both P and S waves being lower than typical upper mantle velocities for stable regions.

The available evidence for eastern North America indicates that a low velocity zone is either absent for that region or more poorly developed than it is in western North America. Most interpretations for P waves in eastern North America include no low velocity zone. Surface wave studies of the shear wave velocity structure beneath eastern North America indicate the possibility of a low velocity zone for S waves, at least in some regions.

8

ş.

ş,

b

The available data for northern Europe and Asia indicate that it is a stable region with velocity and attenuative properties much like those of eastern North America. The difference in attenuative properties of the upper mantle between the western United States and northern Asia might lead to higher m_b values for the Asian nuclear events than for equivalent NTS events, if the low velocity, low Q zone beneath the western United States is sufficiently thick and has low enough values. Thickness and Q values suggested by most published research can easily cause m_b values for events in the Basin and Range province to be a few tenths of a magnitude unit lower than events in shield regions.

I. INTRODUCTION

The structure and properties of the upper mantle have been the subjects of much fruitful research in recent years. The mid- to late-1960's produced a marked increase in our knowledge of the velocity structure of the upper mantle. Research on the anelastic properties of that region has been less prolific, but much has been learned, especially since about 1970. The purpose of this report is to summarize some of those results, with emphasis on the nature and variability of the upper mantle low-velocity zone beneath North America. We will argue that this zone of low velocities coincides with a zone characterized by higher than normal attenuation, or low Q and is much better developed beneath western North America than beneath eastern North America.

Several references will be cited which present upper mantle models for eastern or western North America individually. Others will present comparative travel-time or attenuation data for the two regions. These studies will indicate distinct differences in the nature and vertical extent of the upper mantle low-velocity zone between eastern and western North America, whereas regional differences within either eastern or western North America will be much less pronounced. Only those studies will be considered which bear on the nature of the low velocity zone within either eastern or western North America. Long profiles which traverse both regions will not be considered.

Lateral variations in the nature and thickness of the upper mantle low-velocity zone will bear on an important practical aspect of seismology, namely that of magnitude determination. It is clear that those magnitude determinations are affected which are based on waves which traverse the low-velocity layer, namely m_b determinations. It will be seen in a later section that 20 second surface waves,

upon which surface wave magnitudes, M_s, are based, exhibit no great variation from one continental region to another.

Research on other geophysical parameters also indicates distinct differences in the upper mantle between eastern and western North America. These will be discussed and their relationship to certain crustal properties will also be presented.

The stable regions of eastern North America will be compared to other stable regions of the world. The available evidence will suggest that crustal and upper mantle velocity and Q structures beneath the stable regions of the world do not greatly differ from one another.

8

II. RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN ZONES OF LOW VELOCITY AND LOW Q IN THE MANTLE

The Q structure of the upper mantle can be inferred from body wave or surface wave amplitudes. Although the study of these dynamic properties of seismic waves supports the conclusions of this report, the number of such studies is far smaller than the number of studies of kinematic properties, namely body wave travel-time and surface wave dispersion, which depend on elastic properties of the upper mantle. It will be useful then, to establish the coincidence of zones of low velocities and low Q values in the upper mantle. This will greatly increase the number of studies to which we can appeal. In addition, since travel-time and dispersion data are subject to far fewer uncertainties than amplitude data, the results of various studies can be viewed with greater confidence.

Intuitively, we might suspect that low Q zones and low velocity zones in the upper mantle might coincide because it seems likely that material with low rigidity and low bulk modulus values would also be characterized by low Q values. However, I will attempt to show the coincidence of low velocity and low Q zones in two ways. First, I will present results from two regions in which both velocities and Q values have been obtained for the upper mantle low velocity (and low Q) zone. Secondly, it will be seen that the most widely accepted mechanism for the low velocity zone in the upper mantle will also produce low Q values.

ē.

Þ

Comparisons between velocity and Q structure of the upper mantle are limited by the small number of Q models for specific regions. The Pacific and the western United States appear to be the only regions where Q models and velocity models for the upper mantle can be compared.

The average Pacific model of Mitchell [1976] includes a low Q zone at depths between 60 and 220 km. This can be compared with the Pacific velocity models of Saito and Takeuchi [1966], which include low velocity zones over a similar depth range.

Archambeau, <u>et al.</u> [1969] found a low Q layer in the western United States which roughly coincides with a P wave low velocity layer. Lee and Solomon [1975] inverted attenuation data in the western United States to obtain a model having a low-Q zone at depths between 85 and 160 km. Upper mantle velocity models for that region, such as those derived by Masse, <u>et al.</u> [1972] and Helmberger [1973] include low velocity zones over a similar depth range.

Anderson [1967] has suggested that a low Q zone can be expected for almost any mechanism used to explain low velocities, including high temperatures or high thermal gradients. Later work [Anderson and Sammis, 1970] has shown that velocities in the low velocity zone are too low to be explained by any reasonable minerology or temperature gradient, and conclude that this zone is best explained by partial melting or by the presence of water produced by dehydration processes. Either mechanism can also be expected to produce a reduction in Q values.

III. EASTERN NORTH AMERICAN UPPER MANTLE MODELS

Most of eastern North America is considered to be a relatively stable region and includes the Canadian shield. As shown in a later section, available evidence suggests that other stable regions such as the Eurasian and African sheilds are characterized by similar velocity and Q structure in the upper mantle.

Compressional (P) wave velocity models of the upper mantle have been determined largely from long seismic refraction lines using explosive sources. Most of these, such as the interpretation of Green and Hales [1968], Barr [1967], Mereu and Hunter [1969] and Roller and Jackson [1966], require no low-velocity zone for P waves in this region. The model of Masse [1973] includes a low velocity zone, but it is thin and poorly developed. These models are summarized in Figure 1, taken from Masse [1973].

Shear (S) wave velocity models are most often inferred from the dispersion of surface waves. Modest zones of low shear velocities for the upper mantle beneath the Canadian shield and central United States are included in models derived by Brune and Dorman [1963] and McEvilly [1964], respectively. Biswas and Knopoff [1974] found, however, that a low-velocity zone is not required beneath the central United States, although one is required beneath the Gulf Coast region.

The only Q model which pertains to the upper mantle beneath eastern North America was derived by Lee and Solomon [1975] using previously published attenuation data. Although much scatter is present, an adequate fit to the data does not require a low-Q zone in the upper mantle. Two eastern United States models appear in Figure 2, which is reproduced from Lee and Solomon [1975].



B.



P



R-3164

The presently available seismic data for eastern North America favor an upper mantle with a modest shear wave low velocity zone, at least in some regions. Most interpretations using P wave data, however, suggest that a P-wave low-velocity zone is not present, although a poorly developed low-velocity zone can probably not be ruled out.

P.

8

÷.

8

ê

÷.

ł.

ş.

p.

IV. WESTERN NORTH AMERICAN UPPER MANTLE MODELS

8

In contrast to eastern North America, virtually all P-wave upper mantle models derived for western North America, or portions of that region, include well-developed lowvelocity zones. These include models derived by Archambeau, <u>et al.</u> [1969], Masse, <u>et al.</u> [1972] and Helmberger [1973]. Substantial differences occur between various upper mantle models for the western United States, particularly with regard to the thickness of the low-velocity zone and the thickness of the lid above it. In all cases, however, a low-velocity zone for P waves is present and well-developed. These are summarized in Figure 3.

A shear wave velocity model of the mantle beneath the western United States has been obtained by Biswas and Knopoff [1974] by inverting long-period surface wave phase velocity data. Although the details of their model are uncertain, it is clear that a prominent low-velocity zone for shear waves is required. This result is in contrast to their model of the mantle beneath the north-central United States, for which a low-velocity zone is either absent or poorly developed.

Further information on the shear wave structure beneath the western United States was obtained by Yasar and Nuttli [1974] who studied shear-wave travel-time residuals. They found significant variations in the thickness of the shear-wave low-velocity channel, the greatest thickness occurring in southern Utah and Nevada and in northwest Arizona.

The Q model of Lee and Solomon [1975] for the western United States appears in Figure 2 along with the eastern United States models. In contrast to the model for the eastern United States, a substantial zone for low Q values appears to be required beneath the western United States.



8

8

ł

÷

ş.

ę.

5

ł

3



Additional seismic data pertaining to the upper mantle beneath the western United States have been obtained by York and Helmberger [1973]. They observed time differences between P and PL waves on several seismograms recorded in the southwestern United States. They compared the nearly constant velocity of the PL wave in the crustal wave guide with the regionally variable long-period P wave velocity, to obtain a contour map of large-scale variations in the upper mantle. They concluded that the thickness of the upper-mantle lowvelocity zone is variable beneath the southwestern United States, being thickest beneath the Basin and Range province and thinner in other regions. The region beneath which the low-velocity zone is best developed includes the Nevada Test Site.

-

8

췷

8

ę.

V. COMPARATIVE STUDIES OF THE UPPER MANTLE BETWEEN EASTERN AND WESTERN NORTH AMERICA

Several comparative studies of teleseismic P and S waves have also been made for North America. It will be seen that these substantiate the lateral differences in velocity and Q structure of the upper mantle beneath North America as inferred from the individual studies of eastern and western North America discussed in the previous sections.

Cleary and Hales [1966] observed regional variations in P wave travel-time residuals across North America. The arrivals were as much as a second early in the central United States and up to a second late in the Basin and Range province. Doyle and Hales [1967], in a similar study of S waves found a range of travel-time anomalies of about 8 seconds, with negative values generally occurring in the eastern and central United States and positive values occurring in the western United States. These are most easily explained by lateral variations in the velocity structure of the upper mantle. Birch [1969] suggested that partial melting in the upper mantle beneath the western United States is a likely explanation for the travel-time anomaly data.

The relative attenuation of body waves passing through the upper mantle beneath North America has been the subject of at least three studies. Solomon and Toksöz [1970] determined a differential attenuation

$$\delta t^* = \pi \int_{\text{path}} \delta Q_{\beta}^{-1} (s, f) \beta^{-1} (s) ds$$

where β is the shear velocity and δQ_{β}^{-1} is the departure of the true anelasticity, at a point along the ray path, from a radially symmetric Q_{β}^{-1} distribution. Positive values

indicate greater than normal attenuation and vice versa. Their results, for both P and S waves, indicate high attenuation between the Rocky Mountains and the Sierra Nevada-Cascade ranges and low attenuation throughout most of the central and eastern portions of the United States.

Der, Massé, and Gurski [1975] observed consistent patterns of attenuation for short-period teleseismic P and S waves. Their analysis showed that greater attenuation occurs for both types of waves in the western United States than in the eastern United States. In a later study, Der and McElfresh [1976] determined average Q values for ray paths from the SALMON nuclear explosion to various LRSM stations. They obtained average Q values between 1600 and 2000 for paths confined to eastern North America, whereas they obtained values of 400 to 500 for paths crossing over into the western United States. Figure 4, reproduced from Der, <u>et al.</u> [1976] dramatically illustrates the attenuation of high frequency waves for paths traversing the upper mantle of the western United States (NW profile) as compared to the same frequencies for the other paths.

It is a straightforward procedure to calculate the reduction in m values produced by passage of a compressional wave through a zone of low Q. If we assume that a layer has constant values for both velocity and Q, then the compressional wave amplitude, for a wave traversing that layer, is reduced by the factor

$$F = e^{-\frac{\pi f x}{Q\alpha}}$$

8

where f is frequency, α is compressional wave velocity, and x is the distance traveled through the layer. If we take x to be 150 km, f to be 1 Hz, and α to be 7.6 km/sec, then the amplitude reduction factor above can be calculated for



Ŷ

ÿ

Ŷ

9

ę.

÷

3

1

ł

Seismograms along three profiles from the SALMON nuclear explosion (after Der and McElfresh [1976], reproduced with permission from Bull. Seism. Soc. Am.). Figure 4.

R-3164

any given value of Q. Table 1 presents the results of a few sample calculations. These results indicate that a 150 km thick layer having a Q value of about 500 or more will cause only a very small reduction in amplitude. A Q value of 20, on the other hand, would have a drastic effect on compressional wave amplitudes.

Body wave magnitudes have been defined by Gutenberg [1958] to be

$$m_{h} = \log_{10} (A/T) + \overline{Q} (\Delta, h)$$

ŧ

*

8

8

Б

where A/T is the amplitude-to-period ratio and \overline{Q} is a calibration function which is a function of epicentral distance (Δ) and depth (h). \overline{Q} can be obtained from available tables.

If observed compressional wave amplitudes, A_1 and A_2 , lead to magnitude determinations $(m_b)_1$ and $(m_b)_2$, the difference is these determinations can be expressed as

$$\Delta m_{\rm b} = (m_{\rm b})_2 - (m_{\rm b})_1 = \log_{10} \frac{A_2}{A_1} \, .$$

If the amplitude differences are produced by different Q values in a 150 km thick layer, then

$$\Delta m_{\rm b} = \log_{10} \frac{F_2}{F_1}$$

where F_1 and F_2 are the amplitude reduction factors described above. If F_1 corresponds to a shield region and F_2 corresponds to the Basin and Range province, we can calculate expected differences in m_b obtained for paths through the two regions. Table 2 lists some results for various combinations of Q values which might represent a shield region and the Basin and Range province.

TABLE 1

8

÷

÷

ŷ.

2

8.

Amplitude reduction factor produced when a compressional wave travels 150 km through a region of constant velocity and Q. The velocity is taken to be 7.6 km/sec.

	Amplitude
Q	Factor, F
20	0.05
50	0.29
100	0.54
300	0.81
500	0.88
1000	0.94

TABLE 2

Differences in m_b which would be expected between two regions for which the Q values are different for a 150 km segment of the path of compressional waves. Q₁ values might be taken as representative for the upper mantle beneath eastern North America and Q₂ might represent those beneath western North America

<u>Q</u> 1	<u>Q</u> 2	$\frac{F_2/F_1}{F_1}$	<u>∆</u> mb
1000	50	0.31	-0.51
1000	. 100	0.57	-0.24
500	50	0.33	-0.48
500	100	0.61	-0.21
300	50	0.36	-0.45
300	100	0.67	-0.18
100	20	0.09	-1.03
100	50	0.54	-0.27

The calculations of Table 2 indicate that it is not difficult to obtain differences in m_b of 0.2 units or more by using realistic values of Q for shield regions and the Basin and Range province. In fact, many of the δt^* values observed by Solomon and Toksöz [1970] would lead to a much greater difference in m_b .

÷

3

÷

ŧ

÷

ÿ.

Þ

p.

p.

VI. OTHER GEOPHYSICAL STUDIES

÷

Two other properties which might vary laterally throughout the upper mantle are electrical conductivity and temperature. Porath and Gough [1971] and Gough [1973] have proposed higher conductivities for the western United States relative to the eastern United States, based upon geomagnetic deep sounding measurements. Their simplified models indicate that resistivity values of 5 ohm-meter occur at much shallower depths beneath the Basin and Range than beneath the Great Plains. They suggest that the depths obtained are consistent with laboratory studies of the variation of sensitivity of olivine with temperature, lower sensitivity values being produced by higher temperatures at a given depth.

Heat flow measurements [Blackwell, 1971] are consistent with the resistivity model. They appear to be higher for most of the western United States than they are for the stable regions of eastern North America. Zones for low Q should also be more likely to occur in regions where heat flow is high, either as a result of high temperatures, or because of partial melting or the presence of water produced by dehydration at high temperatures.

R-3164

VII. CRUSTAL ANELASTICITY

8

-

Mitchell [1975] showed that Rayleigh wave amplitudes at periods less than 15 seconds are attenuated more rapidly in western North America than they are in eastern North America. At periods of 5 seconds, amplitudes in western North America are only one fifth as large as those in eastern North America for a 1000 km path. Those observations reflect variations in Q values in the upper crust. Longer periods, up to at least 30 seconds, on the other hand, exhibit little regional variation, since they are strongly influenced by higher Q values of the lower crust [Solomon, 1972; Mitchell, 1975]. Since 20 second surface waves do not appear to be greatly affected by regional variations in anelasticity, we can also expect that M_S values determined for that period will exhibit no great regional variations.

VIII. COMPARISON WITH EURASIA

Much fewer data are available from which to infer the crustal and upper mantle structure beneath Eurasia than are available for North America. However, the data which are available suggest that much of northern Europe and Asia (including the Russian nuclear test sites in central Asia) is similar in its properties to other stable regions of the world, such as eastern North America.

Gupta and Sato [1968] used Love wave group velocities at periods up to 60 seconds to regionalize Eurasia according to its dispersion characteristics. They found that the Himalayas and Tibetan Plateau regions are characterized by extremely low group velocities, whereas much of northern Europe and Asia is characterized by velocities which are typical of stable regions. This work supported a previous regionalization of Eurasia based upon Rayleigh waves [Santo and Sato, 1966].

A recent study by Gupta, <u>et al.</u> [1977] used surface waves with periods as great as 300 seconds. They found that a shield-like upper mantle structure was required for a large region of southern Asia which includes the south Indian shield and the Indogangetic plains.

The only study of surface wave attenuation confined to Eurasia appears to be that of Yacoub and Mitchell [1977]. While there is considerable scatter in the data, the results indicate that the anelastic properties of the crust in the stable portions of Eurasia are not greatly dissimilar from those in eastern North America, whereas the tectonically active regions may be characterized by somewhat greater attenuative properties.

Heat flow determinations for Eurasia are rather sparse. However, the values reported for Eurasian shield regions by Lubimova and Polyak [1969] are consistent with those for other shield regions. The little geophysical data that are available for Eurasia, then, suggest that the northern stable regions are much like eastern Northern America in their properties. In particular, we might expect the Q structure of the upper mantle beneath much of northern Europe and Asia (including the Russian nuclear test sites in central Asia) to be characterized by higher Q values than those which occur beneath the Nevada Test Site.

8

÷.

÷

Ŷ.

÷

b.

þ.

IX. CONCLUSIONS

The available seismic and other geophysical data overwhelmingly suggest that the properties of the upper mantle beneath the western United States (and especially beneath the Basin and Range province) are quite different than those beneath more stable regions. Those differences include lower velocities and lower Q values for western North America than those expected for eastern North America or the stable regions of Eurasia.

Differences in Q for the upper mantle in these regions which might be expected from available evidence, are great enough to produce differences in m_b values between events which occur in stable regions and those which occur in the Basin and Range province. The lower Q values for the upper mantle beneath the Basin and Range province could easily lead to m_b values for NTS events which are a few tenths of a magnitude unit lower than events of the same yield which occur in shield regions.

Surface wave amplitudes at periods of 20 seconds are governed largely by the shear wave internal friction (Q_{β}^{-1}) values in the lower crust. Those values are much lower and more uniform than the Q_{β}^{-1} values in the upper crust; consequently the amplitudes of 20 second surface waves and the M_{s} determinations from them exhibit little variation from one continental region to another.

X. REFERENCES

Anderson, D. L. [1967], "Latest Information from Seismic Observations," in The Earth's Mantle, edited by T. F. Gaskell, pp. 355-420, Academic Press, London.

Anderson, D. L. and C. Sammis [1970], "Partial Melting in the Upper Mantle," Phys. Earth Planet. Int., 3, pp. 41-50.

- Archambeau, C. B., E. A. Flinn and D. G. Lambert [1969], "Fine Structure of the Upper Mantle," J. Geophys. Res., 74, pp. 5825-5865.
- Barr, K. G. [1967], "Upper Mantle Structure in Canada from Seismic Observations Using Chemical Explosions," Can. J. Earth Sci., 4, pp. 961-975.
- Birch, F. [1969], "Density and Composition of the Upper Mantle: First Approximation as an Olivine Layer," in The Earth's Crust and Upper Mantle, Geophysical Monograph 13, edited by P. J. Hart, pp. 18-36, Washington, D.C.
- Biswas, N. N. and L. Knopoff [1974], "The Structure of the Upper Mantle under the United States from the Dispersion of Rayleigh Waves," <u>Geophys. J. Roy. astr.</u> Soc., 36, pp. 515-539.
- Blackwell, D.D. [1971], "The Thermal Structure of the Continental Crust," in <u>The Structure and Physical</u> <u>Properties of the Earth's Crust, Geophysical</u> <u>Monograph 14</u>, edited by J. G. Heacock, pp. 169-184, Washington, D.C.
- Brune, J. and J. Dorman [1963], "Seismic Waves and Earth Structure in the Canadian Shield," <u>Bull. Seism. Soc.</u> <u>Am.</u>, <u>53</u>, pp. 167-210.
- Cleary, J. and A. L. Hales [1966], "An Analysis of the Travel Times of P Waves to North American Stations in the Distance Range 32° to 100°," Bull. Seism. Soc. Am., 56, pp. 467-489.
- Der, Z. A., R. P. Massé and J. P. Gurski [1975], "Regional Attenuation of Short-Period P and S Waves in the United States," <u>Geophys. J. Roy. astr. Soc.</u>, <u>40</u>, pp. 85-106.
- Der, S. A. and T. W. McElfresh [1976], "P-Wave Spectra of the Salmon Nuclear Explosion," Bull. Seism. Soc. Am., 66, pp. 1609-1622.

- Doyle, H. A. and A. L. Hales [1967], "An Analysis of the Travel Times of S Waves to North American Stations in the Distance Range 28° to 82°," <u>Bull. Seism. Soc.</u> Am., 57, pp. 761-771.
- Gough, D. I. [1973], "The Geophysical Significance of Geomagnetic Variation Anomalies," <u>Phys. Earth Planet.</u> <u>Int.</u>, <u>1</u>, pp. 379-388.
- Green, R. W. E. and A. L. Hales [1968], "The Travel Times of P Waves to 30° in the Central United States and Upper Mantle Structure," <u>Bull. Seism. Soc. Am.</u>, <u>58</u>, pp. 267-289.
- Gupta, H. K., D. C. Nyman and M. Landisman [1977], "Shield-Like Upper Mantle Structure inferred from Long-Period Rayleigh- and Love-Wave Dispersion Investigations in the Middle East and Southeast Asia," <u>Bull.</u> Seism. Soc. Am., 67, pp. 103-119.
- Gupta, H. K. and Y. Satô [1968], "Regional Characteristics of Love Wave Group Velocity Dispersion in Eurasia," <u>Bull. Earthquake Res. Inst.</u>, Tokyo University, <u>46</u> pp. 41-52.
- Gutenberg, B. [1958], "Attenuation of Seismic Waves in the Earth's Mantle," <u>Bull. Seism. Soc. Am.</u>, <u>48</u>, pp. 269-282.
- Helmberger, D. V. [1973], "On the Structure of the Low Velocity Zone," Geophys. J. Roy. astr. Soc., 34, pp. 251-263.
- Lee, W. B. and S. C. Solomon [1975], "Inversion Schemes for Surface Wave Attenuation and Q in the Crust and the Mangle," <u>Geophys. J. Roy. astr. Soc.</u>, 43, pp. 47-71.
- Lubimova, E. A. and B. G. Polyak [1969], "Heat Flow Map of Eurasia," in The Earth's Crust and Upper Mantle, Geophysical Monograph 13, edited by P. J. Hart, pp. 82-88, Washington, D.C.
- Massé, R. P. [1973], "Compressional Velocity Distribution Beneath Central and Eastern North America," <u>Bull.</u> Seism. Soc. Am., 63, pp. 911-935.
- Massé, R. P., M. Landisman and J. B. Jenkins [1972], "An Investigation of the Upper Mantle Compressional Velocity Distribution Beneath the Basin and Range Province," <u>Geophys. J. Roy. astr. Soc.</u>, <u>30</u>, pp. 19-36.

a.

McEvilly, T. V. [1964], "Central U. S. Crust-Upper Mantle Structure from Love- and Rayleigh-Wave Phase Velocity Inversion," <u>Bull. Seism. Soc. Am.</u>, <u>54</u>, pp. 1997-2015.

Ŧ.

6

.

- Mereu, R. F. and J. A. Hunter [1969], "Crustal and Upper Mantle Structure under the Canadian Shield from Project Early Rise Data," <u>Bull. Seism. Soc. Am.</u>, <u>59</u>, pp. 147-165.
- Mitchell, B. J. [1975], "Regional Rayleigh Wave Attenuation in North America," J. Geophys. Res., 80, pp. 4904-4916.
- Mitchell, B. J. [1976], "Anelasticity of the Crust and Upper Mantle beneath the Pacific Ocean from the Inversion of Observed Surface Wave Attenuation," <u>Geophys. J.</u> <u>Roy. astr. Soc., 46</u>, pp. 521-534.
- Porath, H. and D. I. Gough [1971], "Mantle Conductive Structures in the Western United States from Magnetometer Array Studies," <u>Geophys. J. Roy. astr. Soc.</u>, <u>22</u>, pp. 261-275.
- Roller, J. C. and W. H. Jackson [1966], "Seismic Wave Propagation in the Upper Mantle: Lake Superior Wisconsin, to Central Arizona," J. Geophys. Res., 71, pp. 5933-5941.
- Saito, M. and H. Takeuchi [1966], "Surface Waves Across the Pacific," <u>Bull. Seism. Soc. Am.</u>, <u>56</u>, pp. 1067-1091.
- Santo, T. and Y. Sato [1966], "World Wide Survey of the Regional Characteristics of Group Velocity Dispersion of Rayleigh Waves," <u>Bull. Earthquake Res. Inst.</u>, <u>44</u>, pp. 939-955.
- Solomon, S. C. and M. N. Toksöz [1970], "Lateral Variation of Attenuation of P and S Waves beneath the United States," Bull. Seism. Soc. Am., 60, pp. 819-838.
- Solomon, S. C. [1972], "On Q and Seismic Discrimination," Geophys. J. Roy. astr. Soc., 31, pp. 163-177.
- Yacoub, N. K. and B. J. Mitchell [1977], "Attenuation of Rayleigh Wave Amplitudes across Eurasia," <u>Bull. Seism.</u> Soc. Am., in press.
- Yasar, T. and O. Nuttli [1974], "Structure of the Shear-Wave Low-Velocity Channel in the Western United States," Geophys. J. Roy. astr. Soc., 37, pp. 353-364.

York, J. E. and D. V. Helmberger [1973], "Low-Velocity Zone Variations in the Southwestern United States," J. <u>Geophys. Res.</u>, 78, pp. 1883-1886.

Ŷ

1

8

÷

8

÷.

8

8

Þ

ъ